
CITY OF CORVALLIS 
MINUTES OF THE PARKS, NATURAL AREAS AND RECREATION  

ADVISORY BOARD 
DECEMBER 17, 2015 

 
Attendance 
Lynda Wolfenbarger, Chair 
Marc Vomocil, Vice Chair 
Greg Alpert 
Tatiana Dierwechter 
Simone Frei 
Phillip Hays 
Jon Soule 
Anthony Stumbo 
Richard Sumner 
Joel Hirsch, City Council Liaison 
 
Absent/Excused 
Kim Patten, 509-J District Liaison 
 

Staff 
Karen Emery, Director 
James Mellein, Aquatic Center Supervisor 
Jackie Rochefort, Park Planner 
Mark Lindgren, Recorder  
 
Guests 
 
 
 
 

 
SUMMARY OF DISCUSSION 
 

  
Agenda Item 

 
Summary of Recommendations 

III. 
Approval of Meeting Minutes – 
November 19, 2015  

November 19, 2015 minutes approved as corrected. 
 

IV. Visitors’ Propositions  

V. Cost Recovery Annual Report  

VI. Shawala Point Master Plan  

VII. Franklin Park Playground Equipment  

VIII. Board Member Reports  

IX. Staff Reports  

X. City Council Liaison Report  

XI. Adjournment  
The next regular meeting will be held January 21, 2016 at 
6:30 p.m., at the Downtown Fire station meeting room. 

 
 
CONTENT OF DISCUSSION 
 
I. CALL TO ORDER. 

Chair Lynda Wolfenbarger opened the meeting of the Parks, Natural Areas and Recreation Board 
at 6:30 p.m.  
 

II. INTRODUCTIONS. 



PNARAB Meeting Minutes 
December 17, 2015 
Page 2 of 6 

 
 III. APPROVAL OF MEETING MINUTES: November 19, 2015 

Phil Hays noted that on page two of the Nov. 19, 2015 minutes, the second paragraph of Arlene 
Merem’s testimony should state “..three dog bite incidents at Bald Hill..”. Marc Vomocil noted 
that Crystal Lake Boat Ramp was misspelled in the second paragraph of page 3, and the last 
paragraph on page 5. Richard Sumner’s first name should be used in its first usage in the first 
sentence in the first paragraph on page 3. The insect Ash Borer was misspelled in the fourth 
paragraph on page four. Hays noted Jan Weir’s testimony under Visitor Propositions should refer 
to Crystal Lake, not Bald Hill. Hays moved and Anthony Stumbo seconded to approve the 
November 19, 2015 minutes as amended; motion passed.  
 

IV. VISITORS’ PROPOSITIONS.  None. 
 

V.  COST RECOVERY ANNUAL REPORT. 
Osborn Aquatic Center Supervisor James Mellein stated he was the department’s budget liaison 
and the cost recovery project manager. He distributed a handout titled “Cost Recovery Pyramid- 
FY 10-11 vs. FY 14-15” to help outline the program’s results for the fiscal year, along with next 
steps.  
 
He explained that the term “cost recovery” means the degree to which direct costs of a program 
or service are recovered with revenue. For example, if a program costing $1,000 brings in $900 in 
revenue, then it is running at a 90% cost recovery rate; while if it brings in $2,000 in revenue, 
then it is running at a 200% cost recovery rate.  
 
Prior to 2012, department policy on determining fees for programs and services was based on the 
ages of participants, regardless of the type of activity. In September 2011, national consulting 
firm Greenplay helped craft a new cost recovery model and resource allocation philosophy, using 
an extensive public process. The outcome created over thirty categories of public services, 
placing them all on a cost recovery pyramid with five different levels, highlighted in the 
distributed table. The services are sorted according to the degree of benefits to individuals versus 
the overall community. Each level was tagged with a minimum target cost recovery. He said the 
report helped explain the philosophy underlying the model, adding that the report was 
informational only but he welcomed questions.  
 
He stated that the program is continually refined and tracked. The report’s table shows that 
overall, cost recovery was improved in nearly every area since FY10-11 (the last full fiscal year 
prior to cost recovery methodology implementation). He said tier four showed a significant 
change, mainly due to addition of the Majestic Theatre level 4 programs. Page 3 showed where 
most of department’s dedicated revenue came from, highlighting a 35% revenue increase from 
program and services, while keeping expenses in check. The 12.4% increase in expenses was 
mainly due to minimum wage, health care, and increases in materials and supplies. The last table 
on page 4 showed how the department is contributing to a sustainable City budget, reducing its 
draw on general fund property taxes by over 14% over the last four years.  
 
He highlighted the page 5 table, showing how cost recovery had lead to some changes in program 
offerings; the page 6 table outlined results of the Family Assistance Program. The program in 
FY14-15 changed how pool access was provided to about 340 qualified low-income families. The 
program was capped at $125,000 of direct department support; however, because it was found to 
be exceeding that amount relatively early in the year, in February of 2015 the department 
awarded free pool access passes to qualified families. That significantly helped to keep the fund 
solvent while providing much-needed pool access to low-income families.  



PNARAB Meeting Minutes 
December 17, 2015 
Page 3 of 6 

 
The department retained a $125,000 Family Assistance Program support cap for FY15-16. He 
invited board members to the January 1 Polar Bear Swim, one of a number of fundraisers for the 
program. Page 6 outlines funding for the program, including setting aside 7% from each program 
or service and expanding fundraising. Page 6 also includes planned cost recovery action items 
and next steps for the next two years, such as expanding vendor advertising at the Majestic 
Theatre and Osborn Aquatic Center; increasing Majestic ticket prices to match area providers; 
reviewing department affiliate agreements, such as the Fall Festival and Red, White and Blues 
Festival; increasing opportunities for outdoor recreation and education camps to attract new 
participants; launching the new concessions trailer; creating a newcomer orientation for the 
Senior Center; and renovating the Walnut Park barn to increase customer rental utilization. He 
thanked the Finance Department for their help, along with staff, in submitting data for the report.  
 
Hays asked about Table 4 on page 5, regarding FY14-15 total participation; Mellein confirmed 
the big bump was due to the Majestic Theater. Hays said that despite his initial caution, he felt the 
cost recovery program appeared to be working very well. Richard Sumner asked about moving 
funds between tiers; Mellein explained that the program works by developing costs and revenues 
for the various categorized programs and services. The philosophy is that if more revenues are 
generated in tiers 4 and 5, then that helps the lower tiers, which rely on general fund support. He 
noted that there are few opportunities to generate revenue for tier 1 programs, such as park 
maintenance or park operating costs. Director Emery added that cost recovery helps staff 
determine whether programs and services are meeting set targets; the department’s goal is to 
offset the cost of the department by about 49% overall. Sumner said the program sets 
programmatic targets and goals. Soule said he would find it helpful to have the dollar amounts 
behind the goal percentages listed, saying that it would help clarify trends over the years; Emery 
concurred. She said page 4 shows revenues are increasing overall, but it would help to see 
funding increases per tier.  
 
Liaison Joel Hirsch asked about Family Assistance Osborn passes; Mellein replied that those 
users are counted among the participants. Emery said you only get a free Pool Access and 
Membership pass if you apply and qualify for Family Assistance. Mellein added that those users 
must scan in their cards each time they come to the pool, like all Pool Access members, and are 
included in participation numbers.  
 
Hirsch asked about the concessions truck, noting that getting OLCC certification would allow 
selling alcohol. Mellein answered that the concessions trailer use is mostly planned for the Otter 
Beach deck; currently alcohol is not allowed at the Otter Beach deck, but it is allowed elsewhere 
in the system, and that is a possibility.  
 
Hays asked if we should make changes to be closer to tier goals even if it means giving up 
revenue, and whether the department was charging participants too much in order to hit its goals. 
Mellein replied that participation numbers show that we’re not turning people away.  
 
Mellein stated that when the department sets fees for programs and services, numerous filters are 
used, including minimum cost recovery target levels, as well as what competitors are charging in 
the market. Staff also look at whether to reduce costs in order to increase participation. Some 
reasons why revenues are higher are because staff is going after sponsorships and other 
alternative revenues to help offset program costs to the public. He said page 3 describes 
percentages of revenues from various sources. He noted that the Council will have to decide in 
2019 whether to go after another Parks and Recreation levy, which is a large proportion of the 
dedicated revenue. Other revenue sources include roughly $145,000 in gifts and donations last 



PNARAB Meeting Minutes 
December 17, 2015 
Page 4 of 6 

year, $65,000 in grants, and $1.5 million from sources such as fees for services. Board members 
praised Mellein’s clear, understandable report. 
 
 

VI.  SHAWALA POINT MASTER PLAN. 
Park Planner Jackie Rochefort said there have been plans for the park Master Plan for many 
years. There was a Plan and Review in 1992, though it was not adopted. In 1996 a conceptual 
drawing was created to show how the area would be treated, though it was not adopted. In 1999-
2000, with passage of the Riverfront Commemorative Park design and construction, there was 
more discussion of the area. It was decided that Shawala Point at the South (south of B Street) 
and the North Riverfront area (north of Tyler) would be treated separately for various reasons.  
 
The 1992 Plan highlighted the natural area components of the area. Ecologically, it is at the 
confluence of the Marys and Willamette Rivers, and plans have generally sought to keep some 
areas open and as natural as possible. One component was dedicated to planting native plants, and 
that was accomplished, planting about 900 native plants. The skate park and restroom have 
increased the popularity of the area; it is on a bike path, is close to downtown, with few 
neighbors. This was felt to be the best site among five locations considered for the first fenced 
dog park that was installed there several years ago. 
 
Director Emery noted that much of the early 1990’s Master Plan has already been implemented. 
Several houses were moved to another location, basketball courts and a skate park built. The 
MLK Tree Planting was removed from the Riverfront Commemorative Park Project. Rochefort 
noted that years ago, Ron Naasko asked the department for a playground on the riverfront, and 
the basketball court and skate park have increased user requests for an accompanying playground 
there. Emery added the 1990’s master plan also contained a playground to be constructed. 
Rochefort said the plans have always included recreation and natural components. The Nigel 
Rose Weber   Memorial play structure was installed there this summer. The Benton County Skate 
Alliance has been actively fundraising and planning to expand the skate park; it has been in the 
CIP for many years.  
 
Rochefort emphasized the need to avoid piecemeal development. Any activity on the site requires 
a Willamette River Greenway Permit, which is extensive and requires a great deal of planning 
process and staff work, so it makes sense to have all proposed activities under a single Plan. She 
related that former Mayor Julie Manning invited a UCLA architecture school planner to meet 
with the department in looking at the Shawala Point, since it is a pivot point for the community. 
Rochefort stated that Jeremy Monroe has been working with a stakeholders group on a broader 
plan extending further south through the Hollingsworth and Vose (formerly Evanite) site.  
 
She said she’d like to convene a stakeholder group starting in January to start on the planning 
process. The group should include a representative from, PNARAB; the Grande Ronde 
Confederated tribes (since it is a cultural site); a downtown business rep; the Benton County 
Skateboard Alliance; and two members at large. She would ask Community Development if 
they’d like to participate or review the work, and the Police Community Patrol Officer may wish 
to offer advice. Emery added that ODOT also needs to review the Plan, since they have an 
easement on the site.  
 
Hays cautioned that the Siletz tribe may feel it is actually their territory, though Grande Ronde 
and Siletz were both Kalapuya; Emery said staff would follow up. Dierwechter suggested 
reaching out to Willamette Neighborhood Housing Services, which recently received funding to 
reconvene the South Corvallis Refinement Plan; Rochefort replied that Benton County Health 



PNARAB Meeting Minutes 
December 17, 2015 
Page 5 of 6 

Department and Neighborhood Services were taken off the list to try to better focus the group.  
Sumner highlighted illegal camping, saying we have to broaden the scope to look at other uses. 
Rochefort stated that recreation, environmental, social and cultural uses were part of the plan.  
 
Hays agreed with conducting planning in-house, noting that the department’s Herbert Plan was 
one of the best he’d ever seen. Liaison Hirsch asked if the highway had been envisioned before 
planning; Rochefort said it was known that it was coming. Emery said it is more of a Master Plan 
Update, rather than just starting from point zero; a lot of planning and public feedback have 
already gone into it. Still envisioned are a sitting area at the point, and a play area on the north 
side of the bike path. The 1993 Plan was referred to as the Riverfront Confluence Plan.  
 
Emery said Shawala Point was an adopted name which has gone through the City’s formal 
naming process. Jeremy Monroe explained that the word “shawala” referred to tarweed, with 
yellow flowers with sticky stems, and seeds harvested for food. Hays said tarweed was plentiful 
at Dimple Hill; Rochefort added that the plant is indicative of a cultural site. Vomocil asked about 
the series of ownerships:  When it became a public site and how it was deeded, or any deed 
restrictions; Rochefort will investigate and bring the information back. Vomocil said the site was 
part of the original Avery land claim, and was once a large sawmill with a pond. Rochefort 
highlighted restrictions on the site such as the Willamette Greenway, ODOT right-of-way, 
riparian setbacks, and floodplain management. She added that a bike pump track had also been 
proposed for the site.  
 
 

VII.  FRANKLIN PARK PLAYGROUND EQUIPMENT. 
Rochefort related that State Local Grant funds were received for the Franklin Square Park project. 
There was a planning meeting with neighbors a month ago at Corvallis High School. Neighbors 
mostly expressed interest in a natural component of materials, as well as old school components, 
such as teeter-totters and monkey bars. They wanted a compact playground, avoiding bright 
colors, while preserving open grass area. Staff will work with vendors and present two designs to 
seek to meet neighbors’ desires at a January meeting, with construction expected around summer.  
 
She displayed the two proposed design options. They included two different iterations of 
equipment for ages 2-5 and 5-12, with swings, slides, climbing equipment, etc. There is 
consideration of engineered wood fiber for ground cover. Hays said many like the appearance of 
the original Wildcat Park; Rochefort said different styles come in and out of fashion. Vomocil 
offered logs.  
 
 

VIII. BOARD MEMBER REPORTS. 
Hays noted that LBCC has now stated that it didn’t have plans for Washington Park. He is 
working with neighbors, who oppose paving the park. He said it is unethical to use lands deeded 
to the public for such a different purpose. Jon Soule said the college may be able to build 
vertically. Stumbo felt that the G-T article mistakenly implied Hays was speaking on behalf of the 
board. Hays said he opposed considering parks simply as an asset, relating that during a budget 
crunch some years ago, the County considered whether it could sell off valuable parklands. 
Emery explained that there is a spreadsheet that outlines when lands were acquired and any deed 
restrictions. Hays said the Washington Park neighbors group has avoided involving staff on 
purpose to keep from putting them in a bind with a conflict with the Council.  
 

IX. STAFF REPORTS.   



PNARAB Meeting Minutes 
December 17, 2015 
Page 6 of 6 

Emery related that 35 dog-related signs were installed at Bald Hill, Willamette Park and Crystal 
Lake. A handful of signs are also scheduled to be installed by the end of the year at the western 
border of Bald Hill Natural Area’s off-leash area.  
 
Rochefort reported that Arnold Park had a soft opening. There is a permit for rebuilding the 
City’s portion of the Marys River boardwalk (the permit for the County’s portion is still in 
process).  
 

X. COUNCIL LIAISON REPORT.  None. 
 

XI. ADJOURNMENT:  The meeting was adjourned at 7:47 p.m. 


